FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 5/17/2018 10:50 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/23/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

95877-7

No. 75555-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THADDEUS C. PRITCHETT,

Petitioner,

VS.

PICNIC POINT HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William T. Willard, WSBA #20248 Law Office of William Willard, PLLC 3417 Evanston Avenue N., Suite 529 Seattle, WA 98103 (206) 224-6303 Sidney Tribe, WSBA #33160 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Thaddeus Pritchett asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals, Division One, decision set forth in Part B.

B. DECISION

Division One issued its opinion on March 19, 2018. A copy of the opinion is at App. A. Division One denied Pritchett's motion for reconsideration on April 17, 2018. A copy of the order is at App. B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. This case involves an issue of first impression on appeal: the interpretation of commonly-used language in a view protection covenant. Resolution of the issue turns on the definition of a term "obstruct" that the trial court concluded was ambiguous. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court, concluding that the term obstruct is unambiguous as a matter of law, but did not define the term. Should this Court take review because the Court of Appeals failed to define the term in its published opinion on an issue of first impression that effects a broad segment of the public?
- 2. The trial court here concluded that a homeowners' association board violated multiple procedural provisions of its governing documents, had a conflict of interest, and "manufactured" a reason to deny a homeowner's renovation project. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that a homeowners' association is a private organization not bound by the constitution, and thus was not liable for violating its governing documents. Should this Court take review to protect homeowners by affirming that quasi-governmental homeowners' association boards with conflicts of interest may not flagrantly violate their own procedural rules and harm homeowners to serve themselves?
- 3. The Court of Appeals overturned the trial court's findings of fact that were based upon substantial evidence and substituted its judgment for that of the trial court on a pure question

of fact resolved after a trial. Should this Court take review to ensure that the Court of Appeals does not exceed its authority and contravene black-letter appellate procedural law about the separation of roles between triers of fact and reviewing courts?

4. Should the Court of Appeals have resolved the issue of the trial court's decision not to award Pritchett attorney fees?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) Factual Background and Superior Court Judgment

Thaddeus Pritchett has lived in the Picnic Point neighborhood since 1999. Op. at 1-2. The neighborhood is governed by Codes, Covenants and Restrictions ("CC&Rs"). *Id.* One of the covenants involves view protection, and states that no structure may be modified to a "height which would…obstruct the Puget Sound View of any other parcel." Op. at 2. The CC&Rs also mandate procedural rules for reviewing and approving or homeowners' proposed property uses. App. C.¹ They specify that an independent design committee has authority to approve or reject a homeowner's application. *Id.* That committee had to have an architect as a member and keep proper records. App. C at 24.

In 2008, Pritchett sought to remodel his dilapidated house. Op. at 3. After several diligent inquiries to his neighbors and many attempts at redesign, he found a design with which all of his nearby neighbors were

Petition for Review - 2

¹ App. C is the trial court FFCL, which is in the record at CP 190-216.

happy. App. C at 4. The design committee, chaired by James McArthur was poised to approve Pritchett's project, finding "no view infringement." Op. at 5. Board President Brian Bookey, who lived a quarter mile uphill from Pritchett, told McArthur that there apparently would not be view impacts from the project "unless you have failed to inquire with someone who might be impacted." Op. at 4.

However, when McArthur later notified that the Bookey committee was about to approve the project, Bookey objected, claiming that houses from his street, including his own, might have a "view issue." *Id*.

Based on Bookey's claim, Pritchett complied with McArthur's request to put stakes on his roof to show the height difference from the project. Op. at 5. McArthur and the other committee members went to Bookey's house to view the stakes. Op. at 6. They could not see the stakes with the naked eye, and only spotted them after using a telescope. *Id.* After photographing Pritchett's house with a telephoto lens using 85 times magnification, they declared that the remodel would "obstruct" Bookey's view. App. C at 10; Op. at 6.

Pritchett filed a declaratory judgment action to determine the meaning of the term "obstruct" in the CC&Rs, and alleged the Association had violated procedural provisions in the covenants. Op. at 6. He stated the term obstruct was ambiguous, and offered evidence that the project

would effect a .076 percent alteration in Bookey's view, an area no larger than the tip of a ballpoint pen." App. C at 12, 19-21. He argued this was not an "obstruction." App. C at 20. He also offered evidence in the form of Bookey's own statement, recorded in board meeting minutes, that the homeowners who voted for the covenants expected that they would be enforced flexibly, not strictly. App. C at 18-19; Op. at 12.

The Association's position was that, according to its "strict" interpretation of the covenants, a homeowner could not even replace his or her roof with thicker roofing materials, because raising a roof one inch would be a view "obstruction." CP 203. It maintained that any alteration in view constituted an obstruction. *Id*.

After a multi-day trial Pritchett prevailed. The trial court concluded (1) the term "obstruct" in the view covenant was ambiguous and provided no measurable standard to judge, (2) "the Pritchett proposals did not present a view obstruction of the Puget Sound," App. C at 19; and (3) the Association violated numerous provisions of the CC&Rs in the way it handled Pritchett's project application, including allowing the Board President to intervene in the independent design committee's decision and "manufacture" a view obstruction claim that benefited his own property. App. C at 24-26.

The Association appealed to the Court of Appeals.

(2) The Court of Appeals Proclaimed the Term "Obstruct" in the View Covenant to Be Unambiguous But Declined to Define It Despite It Being an Issue of First Impression

In its published opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's conclusions of law and judgment. It concluded that the trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that the CC&Rs were unambiguous, and that they should not be strictly enforced to the point of absurdity. Op. at 12. It concluded that a view is either obstructed or it is not, and reversed the trial court's finding an alteration the size of a ball point pen tip – or .076 percent of the total view – was an "obstruction."

However, despite concluding that the CC&Rs were unambiguous as a matter of law, the Court of Appeals did not define the term "obstruct" in its published opinion on this matter of first impression in Washington.

In holding that reasonable minds *could not* disagree regarding the meaning of "obstruct" in the CC&Rs (regardless of the nature of the structure, the extent and size of the view, and the distance and elevation between properties) the Court of Appeals failed to resolve the ambiguity at all. For example, could agree that this is an obstruction:



However, reasonable minds could differ as to whether this is a view "obstruction."



Yet the Court of Appeals' opinion held that the latter example is a view "obstruction" as a matter of law, without even defining the term "obstruct." This is the position the trial court rejected as "absurd," and was the basis for its conclusion that the term "obstruct" in the CC&Rs was ambiguous. App. C at 18-19.

(3) The Court of Appeals Rejected the Trial Court's Conclusion that the Association Was Obligated to Comply with the Procedural Provisions of the CC&Rs When Deciding Whether or Not to Permit Pritchett's Project

The trial court also ruled that the Association – while claiming the importance of obeying the CC&Rs – had itself violated the CC&Rs numerous times, which led to the improper denial of Pritchett's project application. App. C at 25-26. Although the trial court used the term "due process violation," suggesting a constitutional issue, the conclusions of law made it crystal clear that the trial court was finding that the Association

damaged Pritchett by *violating the CC&Rs* and bylaws, not the Constitution. *Id*.

Despite the fact that the trial court clearly based its legal conclusions in the language of the CC&Rs and not the Constitution, the Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court erred because a private association has no constitutional due process obligations. Op. at 15-16. The Court rejected the trial court's conclusion that a homeowners' association can be held accountable for violating its own governing documents, or for allowing Board members with conflicts of interest to usurp the process for reviewing their neighbors' project applications *Id*.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court of Appeals' published opinion fails to address a central issue of first impression, improperly tilts the balance of power between homeowners and neighborhood associations in favor of those governing bodies, and violates one of the most basic tenets of appellate review: the reviewing court must accept the trier of fact findings if they are supported by substantial evidence.

(1) When a Court Announces that an Undefined Term Is

Unambiguous – Particularly on an Issue of First Impression

Precedent from this Court and all Three Divisions of the

Court of Appeals Demand that the Court Define the Term

The Court of Appeals' published opinion failed to resolve the central issue: the definition of the term "obstruct" in the context of view protection covenants. The Court of Appeals presumed, without defining any CC&R term, that a view is an unambiguous, objective, definable object and such that reasonable minds will always agree on whether it is "obstructed." Op. at 12-13. It claimed that the term "obstruct" as used in the CC&Rs was "facially objective." *Id.* at 13.

It is a fundamental principle of both statutory and contract interpretation that the appellate court defines important terms, particularly when it claims those terms are "unambiguous." *Sleasman v. City of Lacey*, 159 Wn.2d 639, 643, 151 P.3d 990, 992 (2007); *Matter of Det. of J.N.*, 200 Wn. App. 279, 286, 402 P.3d 380, 384 (2017), *review granted sub nom. In re Det. of J.N.*, 189 Wn.2d 1031, 407 P.3d 1147 (2018); *State v. Monschke*, 133 Wn. App. 313, 329, 135 P.3d 966, 974 (2006); *State v. Torres*, 198 Wn. App. 864, 885, 397 P.3d 900, 910 (2017), *review denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1022, 404 P.3d 486 (2017). This is particularly important in a published opinion case of first impression, where subsequent courts and litigants will be relying on the opinion for guidance.

View protection covenants such as the one the Court of Appeals reviewed here are commonly used and can be a source of tremendous power to curtail property rights. *See Enforcement of Restrictive Covenant Against*

Obstruction of View, 40 Am. Jur. Proof of Facts 3d 347 (Originally published in 1997, updated April 2018). Homeowners buying property subject to a view covenant, or voting to give associations the power to approve or deny projects, should have clarity and guidance regarding that power.

Following this Court's long-standing precedent on defining terms,

Pritchett cited to the Court of Appeals the following definition of "obstruct:"

A common English dictionary defines "obstruct" in the context of views as "to cut off from sight <a wall ~s the view>." Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary at 857 (11th ed. 2014). Black's Law Dictionary defines "obstruct" in this context as "to cut off a line of vision; to shut out <the new construction obstructs our view of the road>." Black's Law Dictionary at 1246 (10th ed. 2009).

Br. of Respondent/Cross-Appellant at 32; App. D. Because Pritchett's project in no way blocked or cut off Bookey's line of vision, he argued that the trial court ruled correctly. *Id*.

However, the Court of Appeals failed to adopt any definition of the term. This is surprising given the Court's insistence that the trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that the term was ambiguous, and insisting that everyone knows what "obstruct" means in this context.

The Court of Appeals' failure to define the term "obstruct," despite concluding it was unambiguous, reveals a weakness in the published

opinion that will frustrate application of the decision in other cases, and will give associations too much power to restrict property rights.

When, in a case of first impression that affects large portions of the public, the Court of Appeals fails to offer any actual legal guidance or analysis on the central issue, this Court should take review. RAP 13.4. It should do what the Court of Appeals declined to do: address this issue of first impression and define the term "obstruct" as it is used in CC&Rs across the State of Washington.

(2) The Court of Appeals' Opinion Sanctions the Illegal
Conduct of Homeowners' Associations by Holding that
Associations Are Not Liable for Violating Procedural
Provisions in their Governing Documents in Contravention
of the Homeowners' Association Act,² Public Policy and
Prior Opinions of the Court of Appeals

As the trial court found, the Association's professed concern about "strict" enforcement of the CC&Rs did not extend to obeying that document's procedural provisions, or the Association's bylaws. App. C at 23-26. Instead, the Association simply ignored those provisions, including the procedural strictures of Sections 7.4, 8.1, and 8.3. *Id.* It found that Brian Bookey, the self-interested board President, intervened in the design committee's decision – which the CC&Rs reserved *only* to the design committee – to improperly stop Pritchett's project. *Id.* It also found that

² RCW ch. 64.38 ("the HAA").

the design committee was improperly constituted and failed to keep adequate records. *Id.* It labeled the Association's actions "due process" violations, but clearly cited the CC&R violations as the source of legal authority for the ruling. *Id.*

Clearly, the trial court's use of the term "due process" distracted the Court of Appeals, which ruled that the Fourteenth Amendment does not apply to homeowners' associations without addressing the CC&R and bylaws violations. Op. at 12-13. The trial court might have been clearer had it labeled the Association's legal violations as CC&R violations rather than using the term "due process."

However, calling a violation of law by the wrong name does not erase the violation. Even if the trial court was imprecise in the wording of its analysis, this should not result in a published opinion holding that homeowners' associations are not bound by the procedural rules in their governing documents, particularly when Pritchett pointed out that the trial court's ruling did not rest on the constitution, and that the Court could affirm any basis developed in the record. App. E.³

Homeowners' associations wield tremendous power over individual property rights. Concepts of Liability in the Development and

Petition for Review - 11

 $^{^3\,}$ The COA erroneously stated that Pritchett did not raise the bylaws and CC&Rs as authority in his brief. Op. at 16.

Administration of Condominium and Home Owners Associations, 12 Wake Forest L. Rev. 915, 961 (1976). They are, in essence, quasi-governmental bodies:

[O]ne clearly sees the association as a quasi-government entity paralleling in almost every case the powers, duties, and responsibilities of a municipal government. As a 'minigovernment,' the association provides to its members, in almost every case, utility services, road maintenance, street and common area lighting, and refuse removal. ...All of these functions are financed through assessments or taxes levied upon the members of the community, with powers vested in the board of directors, council of co-owners, board of managers, or other similar body clearly analogous to the governing body of a municipality.

Id. at 918. In addition to these services, these associations have the power "to exert tremendous influence on the bundle of rights normally enjoyed as a concomitant part of fee simple ownership of property." *Id.* at 917.

Our Legislature has made clear, through adoption of the HAA, that the boards of such powerful bodies are not unaccountable. They are subject to the HAA and their governing documents:

(1) Except as provided in the association's governing documents or this chapter, the board of directors shall act in all instances on behalf of the association. In the performance of their duties, the officers and members of the board of directors shall exercise the degree of care and loyalty required of an officer or director of a corporation organized under chapter 24.03 RCW.

RCW 64.38.025 (emphasis added). This is simple accountability that is black-letter law. *Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes)* § 6.14 TD

No. 7 (1998) (directors and officers of a homeowners' association have a duty to act in compliance with the law and the governing documents).

Although no Washington court has yet acknowledged it, many other states recognize that homeowners' associations are quasi-regulatory bodies with significant power that can harm property rights if they violate statutes and/or their governing documents. *Damon v. Ocean Hills Journalism Club*, 85 Cal. App. 4th 468, 475, 102 Cal. Rptr. 2d 205 (2000); *Woodward v. Bd. of Directors of Tamarron Ass'n of Condo. Owners, Inc.*, 155 P.3d 621, 624 (Colo. App. 2007); *Baldwin v. North Shore Estates Ass'n*, 384 Mich. 42, 52, 179 N.W.2d 398 (1970); *Terre Du Lac Ass'n, Inc. v. Terre Du Lac, Inc.*, 737 S.W.2d 206, 216 (Mo. Ct. App. 1987); *Adams v. Starside Custom Builders, LLC*, 16-0786, 2018 WL 1883075 at *5 (Tex. Apr. 20, 2018).⁴

Because homeowners' associations are quasi-governmental, their conduct is a matter of public interest. *Damon*, 85 Cal. App. 4th at 479; *Adams*, 2018 WL 1883075 at *5. Just as the constitutional due process violations of a city would be of public interest, so are the procedural violations of CC&Rs committed by a homeowners' association.

Our Court of Appeals has previously held that an association's actions in violation of restrictive covenants are invalid. *Meresse v. Stelma*.

⁴ Adams is a recently published Texas State Supreme Court decision that has not yet been codified in the official reporter.

100 Wn. App. 857, 866, 999 P.2d 1267, 1273 (2000). In *Meresse*, a majority of members of a homeowners' association voted to amend its covenants to relocate an access road, citing a covenant that allowed road maintenance. *Id.* Minority homeowners filed a declaratory judgment action seeking damages for the diminution of value to their property caused by relocation of the road, arguing that relocating the road was not "maintenance." *Id.* at 862. After a bench trial, the trial court invalidated the covenants, concluding that the "authority to amend restrictive covenants is restricted by the limitation that the amendment may not impose restrictions that are more restrictive or burdensome than those imposed by specific objective covenants." *Id.* at 863. The Court of Appeals upheld the invalidation, concluding that the Association had failed to follow the correct procedure for a major amendment to a restrictive covenant, which required a 100% vote of the homeowners. *Id.* at 866.

Just as in *Meresse*, the trial court here invalidated the Association's denial of Pritchett's project because the Association violated the CC&Rs and bylaws in handling his application. App. C at 23-26. In particular, it found that the Association's Board President intervened in the Design Committee's decision-making process, which the CC&Rs specifically mandate must make the decision. *Id.* Making matters worse, the Board President had a conflict of interest in allegedly preserving his own view. *Id.*

The Association also violated record-keeping and other provisions in denying Pritchett's project. *Id*.

However, unlike in *Meresse*, the Court of Appeals here ruled that the Association's actions were valid in spite of the CC&Rs violations reasoning that the Association was not bound by the Constitution. Op. at 15-16. Although the Court of Appeals acknowledged that the trial court's "due process" analysis was based on provisions of the CC&Rs, the opinion focused on the label "due process" as that term is used in the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* It then incorrectly claimed that "the only authority Pritchett cites in support of the trial court's ruling is "*Shelley v. Kraemer*," despite the fact that Pritchett cited the CC&Rs and the HAA. *Id.* (citation omitted).⁵

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