FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/18/2018 3:10 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95877-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THADDEUS C. PRITCHETT,

Petitioner,

v.

PICNIC POINT HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE HUNSINGER LAW FIRM

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Michael D. Hunsinger WSBA No. 7662

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

6100 219th Street SW, Suite 480 Mountlake Terrace, WA 98043 (425) 582-5730 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals' application of wellsettled principles for interpreting restrictive covenants presents no basis for review.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court erred in ignoring the plain language of Section 7.4 and imputing a *de minimis* exception into the CC&Rs that conflicted with the intent of the Picnic Point homeowners to maintain their "spectacular" and "panoramic" views. The Court of Appeals decision does not, as Pritchett asserts, address an issue of "first impression" that is of substantial public interest nor does it conflict with any Washington precedent. It presents no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

"The court's primary objective in interpreting restrictive covenants is to determine the intent of the those establishing the

covenants." Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 621, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). "Interpretation of a restrictive covenant presents a question of law" and a court will "give covenant language its ordinary and common use and will not construe a term in such a way so as to defeat the plain and obvious meaning." Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241, 249-50, ¶¶ 12-13, 327 P.3d 614 (2014) (internal quotations omitted). Though this court previously favored the free use of land, it now gives "paramount consideration" to the purpose of a covenant. Riss, 131 Wn.2d at 623.

When interpreting covenants, this Court applies the "context rule" that allows "a court to look to extrinsic evidence to discern the meaning or intent of words or terms . . . even when the parties' words appear to the court to be clear and unambiguous." *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 693, 974 P.2d 836 (1999). Extrinsic evidence, however, "illuminate[s] what was written, not what was intended to be written" and thus courts may not consider extrinsic evidence "that would vary, contradict, or modify the written word' or 'show an intention independent of the instrument." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 251, ¶ 13 (quoting *Hollis*, 137 Wn.2d at 695).

Far from being a "case of first impression," (Pet. 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 22) the Court of Appeals correctly applied these well-established principles

to hold the trial court erroneously interpreted the CC&Rs. As the Court of Appeals explained, the language of Section 7.4 contains "an unqualified prohibition" against "the construction or modification of existing structures that would 'obstruct the Puget Sound or Park view of any other parcel." (Op. ¶ 20) Contrary to the trial court's holding, nothing about this language suggests it should be applied "flexibly" and not "literally" because – as this Court has recognized – the lack of qualifying terms in a covenant does not create ambiguity. See Wilkinson, 180 Wn.2d at 252, ¶ 15 (holding that covenant's "silence as to duration [of permissible rentals] does not create ambiguity"); see also Cerrillo v. Esparza, 158 Wn.2d 194, 203-04, ¶ 12, 142 P.3d 155 (2006) ("For a statute to be ambiguous, two reasonable interpretations must arise from the language of the statute itself, not from considerations outside the statute.") (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals thus correctly rejected the trial court's imputation of an unwritten *de minimis* exception into the CC&Rs, which would impermissibly "modify the written word." *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 25, ¶ 13; *Hollis*, 137 Wn.2d at 697 (rejecting interpretation that "would require this court to redraft or add to the language of the covenant"). Its decision is consistent with this Court's prior refusal to add a *de minimis* exception to unambiguous

language. See, e.g., Cerrillo, 158 Wn.2d at 203, ¶¶ 11-12 (rejecting the "importation . . . of a limitation contrary to the express language of the statut[e]," which applied to "any individual employed' without further qualification"); see also Davis v. State, Dep't of Transp., 138 Wn. App. 811, 820, ¶ 20, 159 P.3d 427 (2007) (refusing to add de minimis exception because language was "unambiguous and clear"), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1019 (2008).4

The Court of Appeals also correctly relied on the CC&Rs' Statement of Purpose, which set forth the "paramount consideration" for interpreting the CC&Rs. *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 623. The Statement of Purpose, included on the first page of the CC&Rs, makes clear the Picnic Point homeowners' desire to "maintain" "the spectacular views of Puget Sound," which benefit "the community as a whole":

⁴ Pritchett did not, as he now asserts, argue "that the trial court ruled correctly" because he "in no way blocked or cut off Bookey's line of vision." (Pet. 9) Pritchett instead conceded his proposal would obstruct views, but insisted that a "de minimis reduction" was not precluded by the CC&Rs because it did not "complete[ly] obscure[] . . . a complete view." (Resp. Br. 32)

In adopting these Covenants, the homeowners of Picnic Point seek to preserve their community as a panoramic and tranquil alternative to city living. The homeowners seek to create a neighborhood ... where the spectacular views of Puget Sound and the Park areas are maintained. ... The legal requirements set forth in this Declaration are ... not intended to replace good neighborliness as a community ethic, but rather set threshold standards to preserve the proprietary interests of the community as a whole.

(Op. ¶ 2 (emphasis added)) The trial court nowhere acknowledged this Statement of Purpose, nor does Pritchett acknowledge it now.

Rather than heed the plain language and intent of the CC&Rs, the trial court erroneously concluded that "[t]he *only* record of the intention of the drafters of this covenant" is contained in statements by former Board members made four years *after* adoption of Section 7.4 concerning obstructions by trees, not remodels. (CL 4, CP 122-23 (emphasis added)) The Court of Appeals correctly held these statements were irrelevant because "the intent of the homeowners who voted to adopt the covenants cannot be discerned through the post-hoc statements of individual Board members." (Op. ¶ 30 (listing cases)) The Court of Appeals also correctly held that the trial court erred by ignoring the extrinsic evidence that was *contemporaneous* with adoption of Section 7.4 because "[i]t was during this time that the covenants were drafted, the drafters explained the proposal to the

homeowners, and the homeowners who voted 'yes' formed their reasons for so doing." (Op. ¶ 30) *See Hollis*, 137 Wn.2d at 695 (court may consider evidence "surrounding" adoption of a covenant).

No authority "demanded" that the Court of Appeals define the term "obstruct" for "application . . . in other cases" (Pet. 7-10), an assertion that misconstrues both the issue in this case and the role of The trial court nowhere defined the term courts generally. "obstruct," and instead ruled only that the term, whatever its meaning, must be applied "flexibly" and not "strictly" or "literally." (CL 5, CP 123) The issue before the Court of Appeals was whether that ruling was error, and, as discussed *supra*, the Court of Appeals correctly resolved that issue, refuting Pritchett's contention it failed to resolve the "central issue" in this case. (Pet. 8) Pritchett's request that this Court issue a definition of the term "obstruct" as used in other homeowner covenants is a request for an advisory opinion that could not, contrary to his assertion, apply "across the State of Washington." (Compare Pet. 10, with Matter of Estate of Burns, 131 Wn.2d 104, 113, 928 P.2d 1094 (1997) ("general statements... are to be confined to the facts and issues of that particular case").

Far from "improperly tilt[ing] the balance of power" in favor of neighborhood associations (Pet. 7), the Court of Appeals properly

upheld the will of the Picnic Point homeowners. This Court has affirmed that courts must "place special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the homeowners' collective interests." Riss, 131 Wn.2d at 623-24 (emphasis added; quotation omitted). The trial court improperly ignored the homeowners' collective interest, confirmed by their 120-4 vote adopting Section 7.4, in the preservation of the Picnic Point community's "panoramic" and "spectacular" views. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that "[t]he Association reasonably believes that applying the CC&Rs flexibly will result in the inconsistent application of the covenants and will allow homeowners to 'nibble away [at views] 2 feet at a time'" (Op. ¶ 31), a result the Association has tried to avoid by consistently enforcing Section 7.4. (See RP 599-602; see also Riss, 131 Wn.2d at 625 ("a standard will not be enforced where it has been applied . . . inconsistently").

This Court has addressed the principles for interpreting and applying homeowner covenants in *Hollis, Riss,* and, most recently, in *Wilkinson*. The Court of Appeals hewed to that precedent, applying established principles of interpretation in holding that the trial court erroneously refused to adhere to the plain language of the Picnic Point CC&Rs. This Court should deny review.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed the trial court's application of the Fourteenth Amendment to a private organization.

Correctly recognizing that "the 'appearance of fairness doctrine' has not been applied to non-governmental organizations," the trial court nonetheless held that "procedural due process does apply" and that the Association had committed a "procedural due process violation" in denying Pritchett's proposal. (CL 16-22, CP 127-30) Rather than defend this ruling, Pritchett misrepresents the Court of Appeals decision as holding that neighborhood associations "are not bound by the procedural rules in their governing documents." (Pet. 11) The Court of Appeals issued no such holding, but rather held that "[t]he Association is a private entity that could not have violated Pritchett's procedural due process rights by denying his proposal" because "[t]he Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause limits the activities of state actors." (Op. ¶ 36) That holding is undeniably correct and presents no basis for review.5

⁵ The Court of Appeals decision in no way conflicts with *Meresse v. Stelma*, 100 Wn. App. 857, 999 P.2d 1267 (2000) (Pet. 13-15). *Meresse* did not involve an association's actions under a consent-to-build covenant, but rather was "a restrictive covenants interpretation case," in which the Court of Appeals held a covenant prohibited the relocation of a road without unanimous agreement of the homeowners. 100 Wn. App. at 863, 867.

Having tacitly conceded the Court of Appeals actual holding was correct, Pritchett argues the Court of Appeals should have affirmed on the alternate ground that the Association committed "procedural violations of the CC&Rs." (Pet. 11-13) As addressed in the Association's briefs, the trial court's own findings establish that the Association provided Pritchett a full and fair process by visiting his home, canvassing the neighborhood, conducting a pole study to determine view obstructions, providing him the pictures documenting that study, and inviting him to see for himself the view obstruction – an invitation he declined. (App. Br. 29-42; Reply Br. 13-25) Only after this thorough investigation found Pritchett's proposed home expansion would obstruct views – an undisputed fact – did the Committee deny his proposal.

To this day, Pritchett has never explained how the fairness of the Association's decision was in any way undermined by supposed procedural deficiencies, *e.g.*, having extra volunteers serve on the Committee, having the Committee consult the Board after deciding to deny Pritchett's proposal, or having affected neighbors weigh in on his proposal. Indeed, this Court has recognized that the fact a neighbor will be impacted by a proposal does not create a "conflict of interest," as Pritchett asserts (Pet. 14), but rather that the

"[o]bjections of neighbors should not be discouraged—that is often how restrictive covenants are enforced." *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 629.

Indeed, in its decision denying Pritchett's request for attorney's fees the trial court itself favorably compared the Association's investigation to those that have been upheld as reasonable, finding that "the manner in which the [Association] directors conducted their review of Mr. Pritchett's proposed remodels was much more similar to the acts of the directors in *Green* and *Heath* than in *Riss* and *Day*,"6 because it was not "steeped in bad faith," but rather "more objective and less biased." (CP 35) While an appellate court *may* affirm for reasons not articulated by the trial court, RAP 2.5(a), it is not required to do so and here the Court of Appeals correctly refused to affirm the trial court's conclusions of law

⁶ See Heath v. Uraga, 106 Wn. App. 506, 515, 518, 24 P.3d 413 (2001) (association conducted reasonable investigation by using "pole measurement to determine the extent of view impairment"; rejecting argument view committee acted unreasonably by "seeking input from non-Committee advisors"), rev. denied, 145 Wn.2d 1016 (2002); Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 694, ¶ 70, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007) (association "made a reasonable and objective investigation" by "consider[ing] the views of neighbors... and visit[ing] the site of the proposed construction"), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1003 (2008); Riss, 131 Wn.2d at 627-28 (investigation unreasonable where association "fail[ed] to even view the site"); Day v. Santorsola, 118 Wn. App. 746, 759, 76 P.3d 1190 (2003) (association acted unreasonably because it relied on unverified study performed by neighbor and did not conduct its own study), rev. denied, 151 Wn.2d 1018 (2004).

that were unsupported by its own findings. *Landmark Dev., Inc. v.*City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 573, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999) ("findings of fact [must] support the trial court's conclusions of law").⁷

That homeowners' associations have the power to affect property rights (Pet. 12-13), is both an unremarkable proposition and one that needs no clarification by this Court. This Court has long recognized that homeowners can impose upon themselves restrictive covenants and that when they do an association is empowered to protect the homeowners' collective interests. *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 624 ("Covenants providing for consent before construction or remodeling have been widely upheld, even where they vest broad discretion in a homeowners association"). The Association – consistent with the power granted to it by the Picnic Point homeowners – denied Pritchett's proposal because it would

⁷ In particular, the trial court's conclusion that the Board "intervened" in the Committee's decision – a conclusion relied on heavily by Pritchett – is refuted by its finding that the Committee made the decision to deny the proposal and then "turned their recommendation over to the Board." (FF 15, CP 114; see also FF 16, CP 114-15 (committee "collectively made a decision to recommend denial" because it was concerned about "negative precedent for future projects"); FF 25, CP 118 (citing Ex. 90)) As with the other alleged deficiencies in the Association's process, Pritchett nowhere explains how any "intervention" by the Board prejudiced him given the undisputed finding that the Committee agreed his proposal should be denied before the Board weighed in on the proposal.

undisputedly obstruct his neighbors' views of the Puget Sound.

Nothing about that decision merits review under RAP 13.4(b).

3. The Court of Appeals properly addressed the questions before it – whether the trial court erred in interpreting the CC&Rs and applying procedural due process to the Association.

Pritchett's contention that the Court of Appeals exceeded its authority is meritless. The Court of Appeals nowhere made "new factual findings" (Pet. 16), but instead addressed the questions of law raised by the Association – interpretation of covenant language and application of due process. *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 249, ¶ 12; *Durland v. San Juan County*, 182 Wn.2d 55, 70, ¶ 25, 340 P.3d 191 (2014) ("the applicability of the constitutional due process guaranty is a question of law subject to de novo review"). Pritchett, not the Court of Appeals, ignores "black-letter appellate procedural law." (Pet. 2)

4. The trial court's discretionary decision to deny Pritchett's request for attorney's fees presents no issue for review.

Even should this Court accept review of another issue, it should not review the trial court's denial of attorney's fees under the Homeowners' Associations Act, RCW 64.38.050, which allows a trial court to award fees to a prevailing party "in an appropriate case." (Pet. 19-22) The trial court denied Pritchett fees because despite

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